

PROMOTING ETHNIC AND RELIGIOUS INTEGRATION IN SCHOOLS: A REVIEW OF EVIDENCE

Chiara Manzoni Heather Rolfe

April 2019



About the National Institute of Economic and Social Research

The National Institute of Economic and Social Research is Britain's longest established independent research institute, founded in 1938. The vision of our founders was to carry out research to improve understanding of the economic and social forces that affect people's lives, and the ways in which policy can bring about change. Eighty years later, this remains central to NIESR's ethos. We continue to apply our expertise in both quantitative and qualitative methods and our understanding of economic and social issues to current debates and to influence policy. The Institute is independent of all party political interests.

National Institute of Economic and Social Research 2 Dean Trench St London SW1P 3HE T: +44 (0)20 7222 7665

E: enquiries@niesr.ac.uk

niesr.ac.uk

Registered charity no. 306083

This report was first published in March 2019

© National Institute of Economic and Social Research 2019

Contents

Executive summary	iii
Chapter 1 Introduction	7
Focus of the review.	8
Structure of the report	9
Chapter 2 Schools' admission policies	. 10
Summary of recent Government policy on school admissions and segregation	. 10
Summary of evidence on segregation and school admissions	. 11
The role of parental choice in school segregation	. 14
Limitations in the value of international literature on admissions policies and	
integration	
Key points	. 17
Chapter 3 School composition and the contact hypothesis	. 19
The contact hypothesis	. 19
Evidence from Northern Ireland	. 21
The complexity of the contact	. 22
Key points	. 24
Chapter 4 School level actions to promote integration	. 25
School linking.	. 26
Parental involvement	. 27
Extra-curricular initiatives	. 30
The role of teachers	. 32
Key points	. 33
Chapter 5 Conclusions	. 34
The importance of ethnic and religious integration	34

Admissions policies play a key role in increasing segregation, especially by		
<u>religion</u>	34	
The limited value of international evidence to the UK context	35	
Evidence that contact between pupils increases integration	35	
School-based interventions and initiatives	36	
Limitations in the evidence and gaps in the literature	37	
<u>References</u>	39	
Appendix: Literature search and analytical framework		46

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the Department for Education (DfE) for commissioning and funding the research for this report (project AP2017/50). The authors are wholly responsible for the interpretation of evidence presented in the report and their views do not necessarily reflect those of the Department.

Executive summary

Religious and ethnic segregation in schools is an issue of concern for educationalists and policy makers because it has implications for equality and for inclusion and social cohesion. This report was commissioned by the Department for Education to provide evidence on how segregation might be addressed by reviewing available evidence on approaches in place to promote religious and ethnic integration in education settings.

We look at a range of strategies and projects in place to reduce segregation, promote social mixing and improve relations between children and young people from different ethnic and religious groups. We look at the role of admissions policies in increasing levels of segregation and at approaches to reducing it. We look at a range of projects in place across the UK aimed at promoting integration, and at evidence of their success.

Our focus is on established communities rather than migrants, for whom different issues may apply and are covered in our recent research funded by the Paul Hamlyn Foundation (Manzoni and Rolfe, 2019). Partly for this reason, we do not look specifically at initiatives involving English as an Additional Language, at structural barriers, or at the promotion of British Values and anti-bullying strategies. Some of these are the subject of other DfE research projects.

The review was intended to cover all stages of education but focuses strongly on primary and secondary levels where evidence is available. We identified a gap in published evidence in relation to initiatives within Further and Higher Education.

The review focuses on the UK and, in relation to religious integration, draws on evidence relating to Northern Ireland. It also includes relevant international evidence while recognising that the UK context is quite different in some respects. However, the most useful evidence about what works, or has promise for wider application, is found from within rather than outside the UK and is a positive finding of the review.

Main findings

International evidence finds that the educational attainment of ethnic minority pupils (including migrants) is better in comprehensive systems with late selection to different ability tracks and worse in systems of high selectivity. Research in the UK strongly indicates that parental choice works to increase segregation, particularly by social class but also by religion and ethnicity.

Admissions policies have a very important role to play in reducing segregation, especially by religion, but also to an extent by ethnicity. The lack of transparency in

schools' admissions policies have particular implications for social class segregation where they enable schools to admit more advantaged and higher attaining pupils, but may also lead to under-representation of ethnic minorities. The review's findings strongly suggest a need for greater control and inspection of schools' admissions practices, as well as their policies. Ballots and banding systems should be examined for their effects on pupil composition by ethnicity and religion: their principal aim has been to achieve a more comprehensive intake across schools in a locality and they have potential for wider application.

A number of studies find that contact between pupils of different ethnic and faith groups has positive results in terms of attitudes and feelings. At the same time, there is a persuasive argument that contact alone is not enough and that particular types of interaction and activities can accelerate the process and closeness of integration.

The report summarises a number of initiatives and programmes carried out within and between schools, identifying some which are believed to have achieved some success in integrating pupils from different ethnic and faith groups. They include the Linking Network, twinning classrooms, the jigsaw – which facilitates cooperative learning and a peer support programme the Circle of Friends. These vary in the extent to which they have been systematically evaluated but their reports indicate a number of practices which appear to assist integration. There are also likely to be other projects in progress which we were not able to identify because their findings have not yet been published. The DfE might consider compiling a live database on existing programmes and initiatives as a source of information for schools wishing to improve their approaches to integration.

Our review also identified a number of extra-curricular projects intended to promote integration, but which have not been independently evaluated. The report includes examples of these, including within the arts, which would seem to offer potential for wider adoption, as well as evaluation to see which types of approach and activities work best.

Beyond discrete projects, the literature refers to the importance of curriculum materials, yet we were not able to find systematic research in this area. More widely, findings from a number of studies suggest a number of conditions which encourage integration within and beyond the classroom. These include creating conditions for classroom discussion and reflection on diversity which enable pupils to engage with different perspectives. They also include the need for preparation, training and support for teachers in delivering programmes and interventions. Existing evidence also highlights the importance of a whole-school ethos in creating an environment in which integration can be achieved.

Chapter 1 Introduction

As migration in the UK has increased, many communities have become more diverse but there is also evidence of increased segregation in some areas and within the education system. In its 2012 study the OECD confirmed these divisions, highlighting high levels of segregation of poorer and migrant pupils clustered in the same schools. This has a range of implications, including for equality as well as for social cohesion. The research for this report was commissioned by the Department for Education in 2018 to provide evidence on how segregation might be addressed, through reviewing available evidence on the most effective practices in promoting ethnic and religious integration in education settings.

As well as this broader social context, we have carried out the review at a time of perceived policy challenges in relation to ethnic and religious integration across UK society and its institutions, including schools. The Government has commissioned a series of enquiries into cohesion and integration. In relation to the role of the school system, its stated aim is:

'To make sure all children and young people are prepared for life in modern Britain and have the opportunity for meaningful social mixing with those from different backgrounds' (Integrated Communities Strategy Green Paper, 2018)

The most recent Green Paper on integration and the earlier review by Dame Louise Casey have highlighted the place of schools in promoting integration: the Casey Review highlighted the extent of segregation in schools. It cites the figure that in 2013 half of all ethnic minority students were in schools where ethnic minorities were the majority and makes particular reference to the degree of segregation of pupils of Pakistani and Bangladeshi heritage. It also considers evidence of segregation in faith-based free schools.

The Green Paper proposes that expectations on integration for new free schools should be strengthened. It also proposes that the Government should work with local admission authorities in the integration areas¹, promoting 'meaningful social mixing' and forging links between schools in areas of high segregation. Proposals in relation to social mixing were also made by the Casey Review and by Matthew Taylor's 2015 Social Integration Commission report.

Our review of the evidence looks at what schools are doing to further the broad policy aims of these recent Government enquiries, since future intervention policy and guidelines should be based on evidence. Policy measures will need to take account of current school practices and approaches in relation to integration of ethnic minorities and religious groups, and evidence of their effectiveness. Duties on schools are not new: while concerns about integration have become more prominent in recent years, schools

¹ The 5 integration areas are Blackburn with Darwen, Bradford, Peterborough, Walsall and Waltham Forest.

have had a duty to promote community cohesion since 2006 and, more recently to promote British values within spiritual, moral, social and cultural (SMSC) development (DfE 2014). But the extent to which schools are meeting these duties and, more importantly, succeeding in closer integration of pupils with diverse ethnic backgrounds and religions, is not known. This review was commissioned to help fill that gap in evidence.

Focus of the review

The review looks at strategies which improve relations between different ethnic and religious groups and promote social mixing. Its focus is on established communities rather than integration of new migrant pupils, although we have found practice covering newer and longer established groups. The review covers the use of admissions policies to promote integration as well as approaches within schools. It looks at practices implemented within and outside the classroom aimed at improving integration. We focus on primary and secondary schools, rather than other educational institutions. Although we included further and higher education in our searches, we found no published evidence relating to programmes aiming to promote ethnic and religious integration. We are aware of initiatives at FE and HE institutions which aim to increase inclusion2 and it is possible that these, and others, are increasing ethnic or religious integration. However, evidence of their outcomes is not available. Our report does not cover the promotion of British values, safeguarding or English as an additional language provision. While learning a new language is crucial and language support is an instrument to promote integration, it is not the only contribution of schooling. Our review does not cover structural barriers, including poverty and different life-chances which affect integration of ethnic and some religious groups. The review also does not look at the role of antibullying and victimisation strategies in promoting integration. Some of these issues are the subject of other current DfE research projects.

Contact theory has achieved some prominence in debates about integration and we examine evidence on its validity, practice and possible limitations. Most importantly, our report looks at what works, or what appears to have promise, in terms of good practice in working towards religious and ethnic integration. And we look at the elements of success in relation to implementation, monitoring and long-term achievement of social integration. This evidence can be used to inform the future development of school-based approaches to integration, including through trials where evidence is not clear.

_

² A number of <u>programmes</u>, for example, have been funded by the Higher Education Equality Challenge Unit.

The review focuses on the UK and, in relation to religious integration, draws on specific evidence relating to Northern Ireland. It also includes relevant international evidence, including the USA and Australia, while recognising that some contextual factors are very different to the UK.

Structure of the report

Following this introductory chapter, we look in Chapter 2 at schools' admission policies and how they might be used to reduce segregation and increase integration. Chapter 3 looks at contact hypothesis theory and its implication on school composition while Chapter 4 looks into different practices implemented by schools to facilitate social mixing between students.

At the end of each section we provide a summary of evidence specifically on good, or promising, practice which might be implemented in schools more widely, or tested via a trial. Finally, Chapter 5 draws some conclusions and brings together evidence on what works and at where there is a need for further evidence and how schools might be assisted to increase their engagement with integration strategies and practices.

Chapter 2 Schools' admission policies

In this chapter we look at the role of schools' admissions policies in promoting segregation by ethnicity and religion. We look first at recent Government policy, in particular the Casey Review and the recent Green Paper on integration. We then look at evidence in relation to segregation presented in a number of recent studies. Finally, we look at evidence of the consequences of segregation, drawing on evidence from Northern Ireland and from countries outside the UK. We also give some consideration to the role of parental choice in furthering segregation, since support for it has influenced policies of successive governments in relation to admission (Dwyer and Parutis, 2012).

Summary of recent Government policy on school admissions and segregation

The Casey Review and Integration Green Paper give some attention to the role of admissions policies in segregation. In terms of its causes, the Casey Review states that parental choice, wanting to go to a school nearby or to be among pupils from similar backgrounds can be important factors. Both reports consider the role of faith schools in furthering segregation, particularly where these are also presented by ethnic minority groups, as is the case for Muslim, Hindu and Sikh schools.

Faith schools currently account for 34% of state-funded schools and, as the Green Paper points out, while many have a diverse intake in relation to ethnic and socio-economic background others do not. The Casey Review includes evidence of segregation in Free Schools. This is an important category given that Government policy means most new schools are now established as free schools or academies.

The review reported that Muslim, Hindu and Sikh schools are not ethnically diverse, despite the 50% faith admissions rule, but they are located in areas with high proportions of ethnic minorities and therefore tend to reflect the composition of local communities. However, a detailed review led by the Challenge found that faith schools tend not to do so (The Challenge, 2017:12). It should, however, be noted that their approach uses a simple distinction between White British and Ethnic Minority students and does not take account of the diversity within the latter category, for example pupils of Asian and of African heritage. It should also be considered that the profile of the intake of faith schools is likely to reflect parental choice rather than selection by schools. Christian Free Schools were also reported to be close to the ethnic composition of their areas and are more ethnically diverse than minority faith schools, with more of their intake being White British. Therefore, the Casey Review reports Church of England and Catholic schools as near the average for their localities for proportions of White and Asian pupils, although some 'other' minority Christian schools had fewer than average Asian pupils. These schools have been criticised for selection along other lines, in particular social class, as we briefly explain later.

In terms of promoting greater faith integration, the admissions criteria for new faith-based free schools requires them to offer 50% of their places to children from other, or no faith, where places are over-subscribed. State-funded schools must also have admissions arrangements that clearly state grounds for admission and the criteria used where places are over-subscribed. However, in practice, the requirement to enrol pupils of another faith or none has applied very largely to Catholic schools and has led the Catholic Church to choose not to open new schools under the Free School programme until the 'cap' is removed. Most other faith schools are not over-subscribed, and have been found to contribute to ethnic segregation in the sense that they diverge from the composition of their surrounding communities (The Challenge, 2017:12). The Green Paper commits to an assessment of the potential intake of neighbouring schools before a new school is approved (2018:29). As we show later, a number of researchers have concluded that faith schools impact on the degree of segregation found in neighbouring schools.

The Green paper recommends that the Government works with local admission authorities in the integration areas (see earlier) 'to help ensure the intake of schools are more representative of the wider area' and to 'strengthen expectations on integration for new free schools' (2018:12). It also states its support for new admission models which aim to increase diversity of their intake. The Green Paper highlights the example of the University of Birmingham's Free School model which uses four city-wide catchment areas. It also gives the example of Dixons Mixed Multi-Academy Trust which operates admission by randomised selection in Bradford and Leeds; and Blackburn Central High School, created through a merger of one school with 99% of pupils from Muslim families and the other a school with predominantly White British working class pupils (2018: 29).

Summary of evidence on segregation and school admissions

In addressing the issue of how admissions policies might be used to promote integration, or at least achieve an intake which balances local communities, it is important to consider current levels of segregation, and the factors which have led to these. Studies of school segregation date back to publication of the Cantle Report in 2001 which drew attention to the 'parallel lives' of White and ethnic communities (Cantle, 2001). Research by Professor Simon Burgess and colleagues, using School Census data for 2004 and 2006 found that levels of school segregation were higher than for residential segregation, especially for South Asian ethnic groups (Burgess et al, 2004). Research has also found higher levels of segregation in primary than secondary schools and more in London than other parts of the UK.

In a 2012 report the OECD reported levels of segregation higher than its other member countries³ and in particular that poorer and immigrant pupils are concentrated in the same schools. Using data from 2010 it reported that 80% of children of 'immigrant families' (which are defined as including second-generation ethnic minority pupils) were in schools with high concentrations of other immigrant or disadvantaged pupils (OECD, 2012). Another OECD report notes that England is one of only four out of 32 OECD countries looked at which allow religious selection within its school system (Musset, 2012).

In 2015 analysis carried out by Professor Simon Burgess and presented on the Demos Integration Hub⁴ found that ethnic minority pupils are much more likely than White British children to go to schools where ethnic minority pupils are in the majority. This is particularly true of children of Bangladeshi, Pakistani and Black Caribbean heritage. In total, 61% of ethnic minority children in England, and 90% in London, begin Year 1 in schools where most pupils are also in an ethnic minority. At the same time, around 94% of White British children and in schools where they are in the majority. While these figures are striking they represent a small decline in segregation of ethnic minorities, but also show persistence in some parts of the country, in particular the Midlands and parts of the North West. In these localities segregation does not simply reflect the size of its ethnic minority populations but additional concentration resulting from skewed intake.

Research consistently finds the degree of segregation by ethnicity to be higher at primary than secondary school level, which is explained by the difference in institution size and therefore scope for concentration. Nevertheless, segregation at primary school level might be considered more of a concern than at secondary, given what is known about the importance of connecting children to a range of cultures and opportunities at a young age (see later and Chapter 3).

The recent report 'Understanding School Segregation in England' by ICOCO, SchoolDash and The Challenge, examines the extent of segregation using data from the 2016 school census, applied to both the school population and the population of the local area. Unlike earlier studies, their local population comparisons included only people of compulsory school age who are likely to be more ethnically diverse. The project compared schools' intake in terms of ethnicity and take up of free school meals (as a measure of disadvantage) with those of the 10 schools nearest to them. It uses a categorisation of segregation based on measures of the degree of variation from the local

³ OECD countries are: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain and Sweden.

⁴ The Demos Integration Hub is an interactive map presenting the changing dynamics between the UK's increasing diversity and the implications for social cohesion and social mobility.

population⁵. In relation to segregation by ethnicity, they find an increase, rather than decrease in levels between 2011 and 2016, with the more deeply segregated schools making little progress. The data also suggests an increase in segregation in areas that previously did not meet the criteria. The report identifies particular localities where segregation has increased, offering the potential to both explain and address the issue with reference to admissions policies and practices. However, this requires in-depth research which has yet to be done. With regard to school type, they find that:

- At primary level, both sponsor-led academies and free schools have higher proportions of ethnic minority pupils than nearby schools.
- Local authority maintained schools and converter academy schools overall are close to the average in terms of ethnic integration.
- At secondary level, Converter academies tend to have higher proportions of White British pupils than surrounding schools but free schools again have higher proportions of ethnic minority pupils than neighbouring schools.
- In relation to faith schools, at primary school level they are more ethnically segregated than non-faith schools:
 - Catholic schools are found to have lower proportions of White British students than non-faith schools;
 - Schools of non-Christian faith are more segregated than average in terms of the ethnicity of their intake.
- There is also considerable local variation in the practices of faith schools, with one London borough having faith schools which take between one and five times the proportion of White British pupils compared to the locality.
- Grammar schools tend to over-select ethnic minority students but, although this means that they may not match the profile of their area, grammar schools are less ethnically segregated overall than other schools.

Based on these findings, the authors recommend that local government, faith authorities and schools should review admissions practice both in relation to individual schools and also consider the impact on neighbouring schools, encouraging joint inventions. However, they do not propose specific, school-level measures around admissions, emphasising the need for transparency, also raised in other research (IPPR, 2013). They recommend that schools publish details of the characteristics of their intake and monitor trends, involving governors in this process. The report also considers measures that schools might then take to ameliorate the negative impact of having a segregated intake, such as inter-school mixing (see Chapter 4).

_

⁵ A school is classified as high or low in terms of segregation of its intake if the proportion of pupils from either ethnic or socio-economic group differs from that in its local area by double (or half) or by more than 15 percentage points (The Challenge, 2017: 11).

Other research aims to explain the practices which lead to the degree of segregation revealed by the SchoolDash data. Analysis by Timo Hannay finds that while many faith schools are located disproportionately in poorer areas, their intake is more affluent. They explain the discrepancy with reference to 'cream-skimming' achieved through a range of largely opaque practices. Research by Rebecca Allen also found similar patterns (SchoolDash, 2016; Allen and Parameshwaran, 2016). Research on schools' admissions policies finds some to be complex, and in the case of religious schools, include a requirement to complete supplementary forms which provide scope for subjective judgement and discrimination. It is argued that, in the interests of fair selection, schools admissions arrangements should be simplified and that schools should not be permitted to carry out their own admissions (Allen and Parameshwaran, 2016; West and Hind, 2016).

Other research has proposed specific measures in order to increase diversity of intake at area, rather than individual school, level. A report by the Sutton Trust (Noden et al, 2014) suggests that schools should widen the use of ballots in conjunction with catchment areas. Such methods allow a random allocation of pupils giving all parents the same chance of success. This system is already used in Brighton and Hove Council, where the balloting system is linked to six catchment areas⁶. Allen et al. (2013) analysed the effects of the scheme and found that along with changes to school catchment areas the admission system had reduced the segregation of lower ability and disadvantaged pupils. However, the emphasis of these methods is on achieving a comprehensive intake and the impact on integration by ethnicity and religion is not known.

The role of parental choice in school segregation

The emphasis of our review is on policies at government and school level which might promote integration by ethnicity and faith. However, it is important to acknowledge the role of parental choice, even though it is currently regarded as an important principle to be upheld by government policy. Faith schools are supported by a minority (YouGov, 2013: Burgess et al, 2014) but some are over-subscribed and there is evidence that where this is the case, their selection criteria includes social class bias (Gibbons and Silva, 2011; IPPR, 2013).

The 'Understanding School Segregation in England' report strongly states the importance of parental choice as a factor in schools' variation from the ethnic and socio-economic characteristics of their local areas. The authors argue that 'the prevailing impetus of parental choice combined with the current approach to admissions means that both schools and local authorities have limited powers to address this at individual level' (The

⁶ https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Secondary%20Admissions%20Catchment%20boundaries%20for%202016-17.pdf

Challenge, 2017:12). This is indicated most strongly in the case of London which experiences high levels of school segregation in many localities which is not matched by similar levels of residential segregation (ibid: 14).

Limitations in the value of international literature on admissions policies and integration

There is a reasonable body of international literature on schools admissions policies including from other European countries with similar concerns about segregation both in schools and in the wider community. This finds that the UK has higher levels of segregation than other European countries which invites comparisons of policy and practice. However, comparisons with other countries within, and also outside of, Europe are problematic for a number of reasons. Firstly, ethnic minorities are classified as 'immigrants' even if they are second generation residents and countries such as France do not collect data by ethnicity. Secondly, such pupils and their families are viewed as disadvantaged, with low levels of parental education frequently considered as a factor in pupils' educational achievements (see Karsten et al, 2006). A report to the European Commission by a network of experts on strategies for integrating 'migrant' (ethnic minority) children states that:

'Concentration of migrant⁷ children in schools hinders their academic performance. Minority children exposed to classmates with better performance and higher educational aspirations tend to increase their own'. (Heckman, 2008)

This is somewhat different to the UK context where some ethnic minority groups, and migrants, have out-performed White British pupils and integration is driven by a different set of concerns. A third possible factor which limits the extent to which the UK can be informed by international practice is the degree of segregation in some towns and cities in countries such as France, the Netherlands and Germany which, alongside parental choice policies, has created some highly segregated schools (ibid).

Despite having some limitations in relation to applicability to the UK context, there are indications about what does and does not work to reduce school segregation. In relation to effective practice, a cross-EU review concluded that the educational attainment of migrant [including ethnic minority] students is better in comprehensive systems with late selection of students to different ability tracks and worse in systems of high selectivity' (Heckman, 2008: 81). It also recommended desegregation as a means of improving

⁷ The report includes 'children/students of migrant background' in the category of migrants, arguing that 'immigration plays a key role in the biography of persons, whether they or their parents migrated'. This is clearly different to understandings of the term 'migrant' in the UK.

ethnic minority pupils' performance, which applies less to the UK than other European countries. A study for the OECD reports that systems which facilitate and encourage parental choice also increase segregation, especially by social class and therefore often ethnicity (Musset, 2012). This is especially the case where school choice is accompanied by opportunities to pay fees to secure a place, as in New Zealand, Australia and Chile (ibid.). The same report suggests the use of homogenous and fixed admissions criteria under central authority control to limit 'cream-skimming' which may result in ethnic segregation. It makes a strong case against permitting schools to apply selective academic and income criteria, arguing that 'this aggravates school composition segmentation. Its recommendations include the use of lottery systems or other formulas to achieve a heterogeneous mix of students, for example by establishing zones in which parents can make school choices (ibid.). It does acknowledge, however that these both require a level of centralisation and higher administrative costs.

In relation to what does not work, Karsten et al (2006) reports on a system used in one local government area in the Netherlands which involved bussing of 'Non-White' children, including Moroccans from a poor neighbourhood to 'White schools' in more affluent areas. The programme, which ran from 1981 to 1996, was discontinued because of lack of support from school boards and also from parents, although the paper is not specific about which parents were opposed. Another policy applied in the Netherlands involves pupil quotas, where parents are invited to consider an alternative school to reduce segregation. The scheme was reported to be of limited success, partly because schools described as 'non-White' were concerned that White Dutch parents would not fill vacancies where ethnic minorities enrol elsewhere. The emphasis of the policy appears to have been on moving ethnic minority pupils outside of their neighbourhoods and the author concludes that better information to ethnic minority parents about the Dutch system of choice in education might be a preferred approach (Karsten et al 2006). In the UK, bussing was practised in the 1960s and 1970s as a policy of 'dispersing' ethnic minority children in Yorkshire and in Ealing, as well as to a limited extent in other areas. It involved allocating places to Black and Asian children living in areas of higher migrant concentration to non-diverse schools in other localities. Evidence on the impact of the project has been recorded through the accounts of those who were involved as children but we have found no published reports. On-line accounts and a video produced as part of a research project at Huddersfield University explain that the practice was intended to help Black and Asian children learn English and to integrate through contact with White British children. However, available evidence suggests that integration was not achieved because pupils were not able to take part in after school activities because of the distance between their homes and the schools. There is also evidence that at least some pupils were taught in groups of other ethnic minority pupils and were treated by their schools as under-achievers. The practice would seem to have a number of serious limitations in terms of its ability to promote integration. There would be value in research

to formally record this practice and its place in the UK's education and integration history but not as a practice to be re-adopted.

Key points

- Levels of ethnic and religious segregation are higher in schools than in their surrounding communities. This applies particularly to primary schools and appears to have increased, rather than decreased over time.
- Measures of ethnic diversity should not simply distinguish between White British and ethnic minorities, since this is likely to neglect the degree of diversity of the UK's ethnic minority groups and the need to achieve integration across all groups.
- There is evidence that faith schools contribute to segregation both through reducing diversity of their intake, but also through impacting on the diversity of neighbouring schools. This extends beyond ethnicity and faith to social class. However, literature does not seem to appreciate that Islam, in particular, is a multi-ethnic religion and therefore may over-state the extent to which such schools are ethnically segregated.
- Parental choice contributes to segregation, and there is evidence that more economically advantaged families have been able to exercise more choice than others.
- The emphasis on parental choice and the degree of autonomy by academies and free schools over admissions presents challenges to policies aimed at increasing segregation through changing the pupil intake.
- There are a range of admission policy models which have been found to increase the ethnic and faith diversity of schools.
- It is argued that social mixing in school has positive impacts on young people's skills but there is a need for more evidence on the ways in which integration of pupils by ethnicity and religion can have individual and group effects.
- There are indications from the literature about what does and does not work to reduce segregation in schools. This includes comprehensive intakes, reduced parental choice and fixed admissions criteria under the control of a central authority. Busing was practiced in the past in the UK, as well as in other countries, and has been found to have negative consequences for ethnic minority children.
- International literature on the use of admissions policies to provide a more diverse intake is of limited value in the UK context because the policy drivers are different – focused less on integration and inclusion more on the notion that ethnic minorities

benefit academically from contact with native pupils rather than that integration benefits all pupils.

Chapter 3 School composition and the contact hypothesis

In this chapter we look at the evidence-based studies that use contact theory to explore ethnic and religious integration of pupils in school settings. In particular we look at evidence on the validity of contact hypothesis and possible limitations of social mixing. We review specific evidence relating to studies carried out in Northern Ireland. We also look at studies that analyse school desegregation interventions.

The context of our report is the need for greater integration and cohesion across communities in the UK. Concern about pupil segregation is underpinned by a number of analyses that have been carried out on the degree of segregation by ethnicity in schools and more widely by the perceived implications of lack of integration. In reviewing the literature on evidence-based theories addressing how to best promote integration and mixing in educational settings it became evident that much of the literature has theoretical foundations rooted in contact hypothesis. The idea that contact between people with different ethnic, religious and cultural backgrounds is likely to provide the opportunity to reduce negative stereotypes and prejudices towards other ethnic religious or cultural groups, and to foster more positive attitudes towards it, is widely supported by many studies across disciplines.

The contact hypothesis

The contact Hypothesis was first elaborated by Gordon Allport (1954) and further developed by Pettigrew (1997), Connolly (2000) and Dixon, Durrheim and Tredoux (2005). According to intergroup contact theory, positive attitudes and tolerance towards an 'out-group' are more likely to occur when some specific core conditions are verified. These conditions are:

- equal status between groups;
- share of common goals;
- protection against competition and
- institutional support and legitimacy of the contact.

If these conditions are met, individuals will learn to accept and respect the views of those who are different (Pettigrew, 1997). Moreover in their meta-analysis of 713 independent samples from 515 studies, Pettigrew and Tropp (2006) found that intergroup contact typically reduces prejudice between groups. Also, the positive effect of interethnic contact on out-group attitude extends to the entire out-group and is not limited to the group members directly involved in contact. Different studies stress that the contact process should not be limited to friendship between different ethnic or religious groups; it should

be based on acknowledging the legitimacy of different points of view between groups and individuals (Connolly, 2000; Dixton et all. 2005).

Intergroup contact hypothesis has been extensively tested in different settings, including educational and classroom contexts. Educational researchers have found contact hypothesis particularly attractive arguing that pupils educated in a school where intergroup contact is promoted are more inclined to be positive about diversity, as opposed to pupils educated in schools segregated by faith or ethnicity (Levinson, 1999).

Focusing on interethnic class composition in the USA, research by Holme et all (2005) has found that the experience of mixed schools helped graduates to break barriers with students of different cultures and 'increased sense of comfort in interracial settings' (ibid, p. 14). Tropp and Prenovost (2008) show that ethnic out-group attitudes of European-American adolescents were more positive in ethnically balanced classrooms.

Other studies, based in the UK and other European countries, have found a significant link between ethnically diverse classes and favourable attitudes between ethnic groups (Janmaat 2012, 2014; Bubritzki et all. 2018). Janmatt presents evidence on attitudes of 14 year old native students across Western countries and found a positive effect on inclusive views among native children, but particularly in relation to second-generation 'migrants' [ethnic minorities] (Janmaatt, 2014). In their study in Lancashire (UK), Billings and Holden (2007) found that social interactions between young adults of other faith and ethnic groups produce positive attitudes between them. A recent study commissioned by the Department for Education (2017) examined the extent to which mixing in school can 'improve attitudes towards outgroups and intergroup relations'. Focusing on the contact between White-British and Asian-British Muslim pupils at secondary schools in Oldham, research has found that:

'There was consistent evidence that attitudes relating to trust and tolerance of other groups differ amongst White-British pupils in mixed vs segregated schools. Attitudes were more positive and, as would be expected, mixing was more frequent in mixed than segregated schools' (Hewstone et all, 2017:12).

The authors go on to argue that:

'Mixed schools do result in more social mixing between ethnic groups over time, and mixing is reliably associated with more positive views of the outgroup' and 'attitudes of pupils who mix with other backgrounds were more positive compared to those who remain with their own ethnicities' (ibid:12-14).

Several studies have also found that successful participation in school life and pupils engagement, which both are considered indicators of integration, are positively associated with school and classroom composition (Faas, 2010). Research on pupil

friendships finds evidence that cross-ethnic relationships increase children's resilience to ethnic discrimination, as well as having a positive effect on community cohesion (Badgi et al, 2014).

Recent research by Simon Burgess and Lucinda Platt lends weight to contact hypothesis and to the influence of school composition over other factors. The study used data from a cross-European study measuring 'warmth of feeling' along with information about friendships, attitudes to multi-culturalism and personal and school characteristics. Their analysis found that pupils from one ethnic group feel more positive towards another group where there are more pupils from that group in their school. They also combined warmth of feeling, number of friends from the other group and views on multiculturalism into a composite measure which they found positively related to the number of pupils from that group within the school. Importantly the project considers contact between the two main minority groups — Asian British and Black British — and reports the same findings. The results also show that school ethnic composition is more important than Local Authority composition, in finding that the attitudes of White British pupils are significantly more positive towards ethnic minority pupils where they are more numerous in their school. The authors conclude that policy should focus on how to encourage mixed schools and how to encourage contact (Burgess and Platt, 2018).

Evidence from Northern Ireland

Northern Ireland provides a potentially valuable example of integration policy and practice because of its experience with religious and political segregation of communities and schools. In Northern Ireland the contact approach aiming at reducing ethno religious conflict in education settings has been extensively studied and tested. The research and policy interest is justified by the separate educational system where Catholic and Protestant schools play an ambiguous role in sustaining or ameliorating the conflict. The growth of the integrated 'religiously mixed' school sector allows comparison between mixed and separated schools. Integrated schools are schools with a planned intake which allows that no religious group become dominant amongst pupils, staff or boards of governors. In these mixed settings, the ethos of the schools is to provide shared education as well as a proactive acknowledgement of difference which are not only confined to religiously shared education. (McGlynn 2003; Bekerman 2004).

While the particular circumstances do not apply to the rest of the UK, there are some research findings of relevance to segregation by ethnicity and religion in UK schools. In particular, it is believed in the context of Northern Ireland, that pupils in schools which are segregated by ethnicity and religion hold more prejudiced views towards other groups than pupils in integrated settings. These prejudices are considered to have led to hostile behaviour among young people which extend, and potentially increase, in adulthood. A paper by Hayes et al (2013) presents comprehensive evidence on both the extent of

segregation versus integration in Northern Ireland's schools and on the impact of integration on young people's attitudes. At the time of the research, there were 1,800 pupils in integrated schools, accounting for 6% of the school population. Using data from the Northern Ireland Life and Times Survey (pooled sample from 2005-2009) they find that pupils of each faith who attended an integrated school were more likely than others to say they had 'a lot' of understanding of the other religious community and also that they had 'a lot' of respect for its culture and traditions. The authors consider the possibility that these findings reflect selectivity among parents but, countering this possibility, find that pupils who attended integrated schools were less likely than others to say that their parents influence their views. These findings may be considered relevant in the British context, but it should also be recognised that the segregated school system in Northern Ireland is both of long-standing and reflects deep divisions.

Hughes et all (2013) analysing the impact of out-group attitude of pupils attending mixed and separated post primary schools in Northern Ireland find that the mix of the student body is the key factor in promoting cross-group relations, more than the type of school. The authors suggest that the policy implication of such evidence should be a shift from the current preoccupation with the opportunity to fund or not faith schools to the focus on how all school can become more inclusive.

The complexity of the contact

The UK has become more ethnically and socially diverse over time, but contact between different groups cannot be assumed to take place. Despite diversity, high levels of segregation may limit opportunities for mixing (Laurence, 2015). When there are few opportunities for contact or frequency of contact is limited, it becomes difficult to tackle negative attitudes and anxiety. For years contact hypothesis has guided interventions to promote schools desegregation. However these attempts at desegregation have often failed because strong contextual factors such as demographic circumstances, housing policies and parental school choices are difficult to neutralise by school or national educational policies (Vedder et al. 2006).

Some local authorities have promoted desegregation by merging schools with non-diverse intakes to form a more diverse school community. This strategy, which has been described as 'forced integration' (Miah, 2012) is reported to have mixed results. Hewstone et all (2017) in their research on the outcomes of the merger of two ethnically segregated schools into a single mixed school in Oldham, find that 'over a four-year period, intergroup anxiety significantly decreased, and positivity and outgroup contact significantly increased for both Asian-British and White British pupils'. However, a less positive picture is presented by Miah in his analysis of school mergers in Leeds, Burnley, Blackburn and Oldham, where he states that 'despite the government's intention of creating mixed schools, the Muslim presence was considered deeply problematic in the

local public discourse of school mergers' (2012: 34). Particularly in the case of school mergers in Leeds and Burnley, the author finds that racial tensions and attacks on Muslim pupils increased, amplifying feelings of insecurity they experienced. In their research on integrated secondary schools in Northern Ireland, McKeown and colleagues (2016) studied classroom seating choice, using maps and numbered questionnaires where participants self-reported religious identity. They found that although the conditions for successful intergroup contact might be considered to be in place, religious segregation was evident in the majority of classrooms.

While diversity offers potential for positive intergroup contact, not all forms of intergroup contact will improve intergroup attitudes. Research by Barlow et all. (2012) shows that negative contact may be more strongly associated with increased racism and discrimination than positive contact is with its reduction. Indeed 'The beneficial effects of numerous positive intergroup encounters may be counteracted by the relatively infrequent but powerful effects of negative intergroup encounters' (pg. 1640). A paper by Laurence and Bentley (2017) presents comprehensive evidence that in more diverse communities, the increased frequency of contact is both positive and negative in nature. Using data from the 2014-15 European Social Survey (ESS7) authors argue that increasing diversity may lead to a polarisation in attitudes towards immigration as a result of intergroup contact and not necessary as a result of the lack of contact.

It is argued that the apparent simplicity of the contact hypothesis can mask and hide the complexities which grow when diverse groups are mixed together. Simply having opportunities for contact does not guarantee social mixing. Putnam (2007) suggests that alongside contact theory, the conflict 'perspective' is relevant when investigating the impact of ethnic diversity on civic attitudes. Ethnic competition theory (Blalock 1967) places emphasis on the competitive relation between ethnic groups, suggesting that intergroup conflict reinforces mechanisms of social identification producing more positive in-group attitudes and more negative out group attitudes. While this theory is generally applied to context where competition is produce by scarce economic resources, evidence suggests that in classrooms cultural competition may play a role. The 'ethnic density' hypothesis (Halpern 1993; Fleischmann et al. 2012), argues that students benefit by being surrounded by co-ethnic peers as their presence reinforces social support, safeguarding against discrimination and isolation. There is also evidence that, even in highly diverse schools friendship groups remain homogeneous (Clack et all, 2005). However, there is limited research into the issue of inter-ethnic friendships. More generally, there is limited evidence about what kinds of contact are most positive and promote integration.

A further criticism of contact theory is made by research on Muslim pupils attending Islamic schools in UK and the USA which finds that separation of Muslims in Islamic schools does not necessarily produce isolation from pupils of other faiths, unless this physical separation is amplified by residential and socio economic segregation (Hussain and Read, 2015). The authors argue that despite the common discourse, a delayed intergroup contact can be beneficial as 'Islamic schools can facilitate the participation of Muslims in mainstream institution by equipping them with the cultural capital needed to navigate in non-Muslim arenas' (p.556). Their research therefore challenges contact hypothesis by suggesting that the type of contact occurring matters and a 'delayed intergroup contact' may help students navigate mainstream areas more successfully.

Key points

- Creating conditions for successful intergroup contact is considered key by exponents of contact theory, with schools considered to be an appropriate setting.
- Studies consistently find that contact between different ethnic groups of young people in schools creates more positive attitudes and can increase cohesion. This is particularly strongly endorsed in recent findings by researchers at the University of Bristol and LSE.
- Evidence shows the importance of contact between different groups in reducing segregation. In particular research in the context of Northern Ireland suggests that integrated education may reduce divisions, although pupils in such schools are, by definition, from families who are likely to be open to integration.
- Other evidence suggests that, even in the case of integrated and mixed schools, the contact between ethnic and religious groups often bears little resemblance to the optimal conditions theorized by contact theory. When the core conditions of the contact are not carefully considered, segregation persists even in multicultural and diverse schools.
- It is crucial to take account of the counterbalancing influences of both positive and negative contacts in diverse settings. Evidence suggests that contact is not always positive and not all forms of intergroup contact will improve intergroup attitudes.
- There is a need for greater understanding of what type of contact and activity is positive and can promote integration. There is currently limited evidence on this question.

Chapter 4 School level actions to promote integration

Successful integration of ethnic and religious groups involves a whole range of policy domains and the practices that schools use to facilitate integration play a crucial role. Existing evidence points to a wide range of actions that schools can take to promote ethnic and religious integration of students. In the UK schools have local autonomy to adjust their curricula, for example integrating cultural, ethnic and faith diversity. Moreover, schools are free to decide dress codes and arrangements to celebrate Non-Christian faith holidays. A report by the OECD (2015) suggests avoiding concentration of students with an immigrant background in disadvantaged schools, demonstrating to all pupils the value of cultural diversity. The evidence reviewed by the OECD indicates a consensus that effective practices include a safe and supportive environment, a positive school academic linguistic climate as well as and support for those pupils who do not speak English as their first language. In particular the report states that:

'Positive intergroup relations help immigrant students to adjust to their new surroundings... Students' perceptions of support and caring from teachers and peers are related to motivation, perceived competence and investment of effort – all factors that clearly contribute to academic performance' (p40).

The OECD report (2018) explores the link between school policies and practices and the chance that students with an immigrant background (who in the UK would be considered ethnic minorities rather than immigrants)⁸ have to obtain academic proficiency and achieve positive outcomes and experiences. In a discussion of the learning environment and how it is related to students' academic, social and emotional, and motivational resilience, the authors state that it significantly influences student performance and engagement at school (Engerström, 2009; Thapa et al., 2013). The disciplinary climate i.e. the level of student discipline in class is reported to be a strong predictor of students' sense of belonging at school, academic achievement and well-being (Arum and Velvez, 2012; Chiu et al., 2016; OECD, 2003).

Some studies focus on specific interventions involving definite practices (i.e. workshops, curriculum projects, events, actively recruit teachers with ethnic or migrant backgrounds) while others explore longer terms programmes (i.e. linking classrooms, peer education and mentoring programmes) (Sirius 2013; INTO, 2015).

⁸ In the OECD report students with immigrant background include both first- and second-generation immigrant students.

School linking

The school linking is a programme that brings together two classes from demographically diverse schools. A number of studies suggest **school linking** as a strategy to overcome the lack of diversity due to classroom composition and to facilitate contact and understanding of diversity between different groups. Dyson and Gallannaugh (2008) examining literature on 'community cohesion' in schools found that the majority of the studies (37) were related to school linking interventions which have been evaluated by different researchers (Raw 2006, Raw 2007, Kerr et all. 2011). Based explicitly on the theoretical foundation of contact hypothesis the first linking programme was launched in Bradford in 2001 pairing different primary schools in the City. Pairing schools involves:

- a targeted training for teacher involved in the programme;
- an initial day where the paired classrooms spend a day together at a neutral venue:
- a minimum of two contacts per term;
- a number of shared activities.

After 2001 the programme was extended to the London Borough of Tower Hamlets and an evaluation of impact was conducted by Anni Raw (2006). The qualitative and quantitative evaluation focuses on 28 schools out of 61 involved in the School Linking Project for the year. Evaluators concluded that:

'The project can, even within the short timescale of a single academic year, and comprising a minimum of seven (mostly whole day) contacts between linking classes, achieve considerable increases in understanding and trust amongst a majority of participating children separated by cultural, ethnic or religious differences' (ibid: 57).

Evaluators measured the impact of the programme using different indicators, including the numbers of named cross-cultural friendships in their friendship circle, resulting from participating in Linking Schools, the observed willingness to share resources, cooperation and teamwork between children from different cultural, ethnic or religious backgrounds during classroom activities as well as from interview statements before and after the programme.

In 2007 the Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) launched a pilot national school linking programme in England, which has been evaluated by the National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) (Kerr et all. 2011). The aim of the programme was to give students of different schools the opportunity to meet and learn from students of different faiths, ethnicities and cultures. To take part in the programme, schools needed to commit to a year-long involvement which includes three link days and a series of structured activities e.g. bringing a box where pupils put objects that have a special meanings, card games exploring 'who I am', co-operative physical indoor or

outdoor play, museum visits, music making, art games and drama games. Primary and secondary school classes were paired from different areas and the process is led by either local authorities or charities.

The School Linking Network evaluation carried out by NFER used a two-stage quasi experimental research design with students, teachers and local authorities involved in the programme. The evaluation involved quantitative surveys with 3902 pupils responding to both the pre- and post- questionnaire and eight case studies where in-depth interviews were conducted with teachers and members of the school's senior management. The evaluation also involved focus groups conducted with selected pupils involved in the linking activities. Overall it appears to be a robust and in-depth examination of the programme's impact. Their report outlines the positive impact that the programme may have on many aspects of pupils' skills, attitudes, perceptions and behaviours, particularly their respect for others, their self-confidence and their self-efficacy, as well as broadening the social groups with whom pupils interact. The evaluation finds that school and local authority staff also benefit from involvement in the intervention. The programme was considered by the evaluators to be highly cost effective in relation to the impacts and outcomes it achieved. However the report concludes that linking schools requires careful preparation and planning of activities and there is a need of resources to support the whole process of school linking which includes coordination of links, training activities and support for teachers as well as monitoring and evaluation of post-link activities The evaluation finds that programmes led by local authorities tended to be more successful due to the level of support provided throughout the linking process and in terms of access to expert training and resources, which ultimately produced effective linking processes and practices (Kerr et all. 2011).

Evaluators have found that the type of activities that were more frequently used by secondary schools were 'sports/outdoor activity', followed by a 'drama, art, film or music project' and 'learning about different cultures or religions' (both 32 per cent of pupils) (ibid: 50). The School Linking Network model suggests a minimum number of four link activity meeting all over the year. One of the key findings of the evaluation is that the programme is more likely to have an impact if there is a 'sustained involvement (two or more visits) of the pupils in the programme'. The teacher role is crucial in delivering activities and, for successful impact, teachers should meet for training and have access to high quality classroom resources (ibid).

Parental involvement

Parental involvement has a positive effect on the well-being of their children and is considered a key element of a socially connected school where all actors work together to create a positive learning environment (OECD, 2018). Parental involvement includes providing adequate information through various communication channels as well as use

of interpreters when parents are not proficient in English. The linking project model includes parents' involvement in events organised by pupils as a strategy to disseminate to the rest of the school and to the wider community the linking activities. In the evaluation of the Bradford Schools Linking project, Raw 2006 states that one of the aims of the intervention is to 'providing opportunities for adults who work with the children, to meet to share ideas and broaden perspectives' (p3). However, firm evidence on the impact of parental involvement on pupil's integration is lacking.

Curriculum based initiatives

The distinctiveness of The Linking Network's schools linking programme is that it is rooted in the curriculum (Akhtar at all. 2017). The school linking evaluation (Raw, 2006) reports evidence of positive impact on critical thinking skills and emotional literacy for pupils where the linking activities were introduced as part of the curriculum e.g. citizenship or history. Pupils from different faiths, ethnicities and backgrounds are encouraged to engage in open and honest dialogue and to discuss and develop critical thinking skills. It is argued that the impact of the Linking Network's schools linking programme goes beyond children and includes parents and communities (Akhtar at all. 2017).

Besides the one connected with the linking programme, schools promote other activities which involve curriculum or extra-curricular based interventions aiming at developing students understanding of diversity and respect. Diversity education includes inter-faith interventions as well as intercultural education which have been added to the National Curriculum for all students. Another addition to the curriculum was civic education, which was initially introduced in response to the need for greater integration and cohesion across communities in the UK for the promotion of fundamental British values. There is no evidence on the extent to which it has increased integration of by ethnicity and religion among pupils. In relation to the curriculum, the 'Living with Difference' Butler-Sloss Report (2015) suggested reconsidering religious education as a means of promoting integration. While many schools, especially faith-based, teach only a single doctrine, the report argued that plurality of views about faith and non-faith doctrine should be encouraged. The authors stressed the importance of providing religious literacy to all children as a way to facilitate free choice at adulthood as well as understanding diverse faiths. However their recommendation is not supported by published evidence. The report also underlines the inadequacy of teacher training and many syllabuses stating that 'They fail to reflect the reality of religion and belief, having a rather sanitised or idealised form of religion as their content' (p.34). As above, this may be a reasonable point but is not something on which there is published evidence.

Providing the opportunity to discuss and reflect on diversity and cultural differences is seen as beneficial to pupils' well-being and their family relationships (OECD, 2015). Christopher and colleagues (2018) in their teacher toolkit suggest that talks and

discussion need to be deep and address divisive issues and difficult questions should not be avoided. While this seems a reasonable point, it is not supported by evidence in relation to specific interventions or programmes. Research conducted in some integrated schools of Northern Ireland finds that inter-group dialogue and debate is not always facilitated and classroom discussion involving sensitive topics, such as religion and identity are avoided (Ben-Nun 2013; Donnelly 2008). In their study, McKeown and colleagues (2017) examine whether a value-in-diversity storybook intervention encouraged 6-year olds' interactions with their racially diverse peers. The authors argue that after having listened to the story that presented diversity as something valuable and after subsequent classroom discussion, children no longer displayed racially segregated seating behaviour. However the effect was short-lived leading the authors to emphasise the importance of combining specific interventions, such as the one presented, into the curriculum with a broader focus on multicultural approach to diversity.

The Shared Space Project promoted by the University of Bristol with the National Association of Teachers of Religious Education (NATRE) explored how Contact Theory could be applied usefully to the Religious Education setting to promote tolerance and understanding. The authors suggest three approaches which develop discussion and listening skills, enable pupils to engage with different perspectives and promote structured interaction. The toolkit produced by researchers provides practical guidance on strategies and specific learning techniques teachers can use to promote community relations in classrooms. Among the different learning techniques mentioned, the toolkit describes the 'Jigsaw'9 as a classroom-based approach to achieve collaborative learning and conversation across groups. The Jigsaw technique has been invented and developed by Elliot Aronson and his students in the US and since the 1970s it has been implemented in different classrooms. The aim of the approach is to 'reduce racial conflict among schoolchildren'. Wolstenholme and colleagues (2016) evaluated the impacts of teaching PSHE with Jigsaw on primary schools that have purchased the programme. The programme includes 6 units (known as Puzzles), each lasting for half a term and designed to cover all aspects of PSHE. The focus is on social skills and emotional literacy, spiritual, moral, social, and cultural (SMSC) development as well as British values and personal development. The evaluation includes a quantitative and qualitative sample design and while it is not representative of the full population of school purchasing Jigsaw, it seems to be robust. Evaluators have found that teachers reported that it impacted positively on their pupils' social skills and relationships.

Evidence suggests that curricula materials can be as important as curriculum itself. Textbooks are one of the main educational resource for teaching and learning and the UNESCO and the Georg Eckert Institute (GEI) report (2017), stresses the crucial role of textbooks in encouraging mutual understanding among diverse individuals and

⁹ To find out more about the jigaw technique see https://www.jigsaw.org/#overview

communities and promoting tolerance and critical thinking. The report's authors suggest that textbooks should be free from divisive stereotypes and prejudices 'employing inclusive language, representing diverse identities and integrating human rights' (p.12). This would seem to be a valid point, although the extent to which this is a problem does not feature in the literature.

Learning formats may also be relevant: Ahad and Benton (2018) argue that digital technologies may enable more experimental and personalised learning and could facilitate and support the inclusion of ethnic minorities and migrant background students and their peers. Authors suggest technologies could relieve teachers from routine and time consuming tasks and could facilitate communication with pupils' parents. The report also suggests that technologies could particularly help language learners providing extra capacity through on line courses, activities and targeted resources. Authors suggest 'flipped classrooms' could benefit particularly language learners in allowing them to overcome language barriers before the class. Moreover technologies could reduce barriers for pupils educated in out of school settings using distance learning and social media to interact directly with tutors.

Extra-curricular initiatives

While we were unable to find full evaluation reports on extra curricula activities, we found some examples of interesting projects aimed at promoting integration. Within extra curricula based initiatives Van de Vyer and Abrams (2017) describe the potential of art-based interventions to promote community cohesion and engagement. They illustrate a community arts festival arising from People United's 'Best of Us' project which involved primary schools in Newington, in the London Borough of Southwark. The aim of the project, which took place in 2015, was to celebrate the human character through art, focusing on qualities such as courage, compassion, forgiveness and hope. The mixed method evaluation found that the arts-based project significantly impacted on pupils' community connectedness and engagement, both of which are considered crucial ingredients for overcoming divisions. In particular the researchers report that:

'The programme creates opportunities for children, teachers and parents to explore kindness qualities, to celebrate and reflect on the positive role models in their lives and to understand the benefits of being kind to ourselves and others' (People United, 2015, p.22).

A similar project aiming at promoting cohesion in schools and the wither community is the 'Creative Community' project delivered by Tower Hamlets Council. The project started in September 2016 and finished in summer 2017. It involved seven student council groups based within schools in the borough. Schools agreed a community issue which impacts negatively on community cohesion and coordinated with groups and organisations to tackle the issue. The project included different activities aimed at creating a space for pupils to raise issues and reflect on concepts around hate crime, cohesion and equalities

(London Council, 2017). These activities include three 'Train the Trainer' training sessions for pupils and staff to facilitate cohesion projects, sharing good practice on community cohesion across the world, identification of cohesion issues followed by peer feedback and a 'wind milling' activity. There is as yet no evidence on the outcomes of this recent project. Other relevant projects aiming at promoting religious integration have been implemented by different schools. Ten schools across England joined the ACT 'Building Resilience' project¹⁰ which supported teachers in developing innovative teaching strategies to build pupil's criticality and resilience to extremism. These strategies include learning resources such as practical lesson plans, short videos, schemes of work, teaching resources and approaches to assessing pupils' progress and the impact on learning. The aim of the project was to support pupils to:

- think critically, explore and discuss controversial and sensitive issues;
- recognise and challenge extremism and terrorist ideologies;
- build resilience to radicalisation; and
- understand the value of democratic citizenship.

The evaluation measured the impact of nine interventions implemented by nine different schools showing no significant changes in students' opinions or beliefs However, the qualitative interviews conducted with students and teachers showed a more positive picture. Teachers were generally happy they had taken part in the project and had gained confidence by the end of the programme. Students appreciated the opportunity to tackle the issue, making it less of a taboo (Jerome and Elwick 2016).

Another school-based intervention is 'the circle of friends' approach¹¹ which was first developed by Forest (1993) in North America. The approach is designed to create a support network around individuals in the school community who are experiencing social difficulties because of their disability, ethnic and religious diversity or behaviour. The circle of friends process is based on peer mobilisation of a group of volunteers with the aim of building a relationship that enables them to carry out problem solving social difficulties. As soon as the targeted pupil has been identified the role of the teacher or facilitator is to arrange the induction section with the group of volunteers. The group completes a Relationship Circles Activity focusing on the targeted child and a selected small group of volunteers is chosen to deliver the intervention. The next step is to communicate to the targeted child that the group will support him/her for the following 6-8 weeks. While a specific child is the target, the process is considered a rich learning experience for all members of the circle. While the impact of the programme does not appear to have been established through a full evaluation, a rigorous review of the

¹⁰ https://www.teachingcitizenship.org.uk/act-building-resilience-project

¹¹ https://inclusive-solutions.com/circles/circle-of-friends/circle-of-friends-article/

approach sees it as an important tool for enhancing social cohesion of pupils in schools (Newton and Wilson, 2003).

The role of teachers

Some consideration has been given to the role of teachers in meeting the needs of pupils and parents from a range of cultural, ethnic, religious and linguistic backgrounds. Authors of the OECD report (2015) argue that the role of the teacher requires a specific set of skills to support diverse learners that are not easily acquired through formal training. In particular, teaching staff need to develop a pedagogical approach that embraces diverse learners and their families, facilitating a reciprocal dialogue. In practice this involves, for example, helping pupils to develop good relationships with their peers as well as maintaining positive attitudes towards values of their families, manage complex classroom conditions, ensuring collaboration between language teachers and classroom teachers. The report suggests that a large proportion of teachers across countries feel unprepared and in need of more professional support in teaching in diverse and multilingual settings. Ahad and Benton on their report (2018) on how Europe's education system can boost migrant inclusion stress the importance of training teachers to update their skills to meet what are seen as the challenges of diversity. The authors suggest visual aids and games as strategies to vary the proportion of speech, promoting student interaction and productive language use. However, these are practices which apply more to the integration of newer migrants rather than established ethnic minority communities who are the focus of our review.

Evidence suggests that ethnic and religious integration can be supported by recruitment of teachers with ethnic or migrant backgrounds. This is because teachers with ethnic or migrant background could influence positively pupils learning experience and sense of belonging (EPRS, 2016). Minority ethnic teachers are more likely to drop out of initial teacher education, leave their post or not to be promoted (McNamara et all, 2010). In England and Wales the Teacher and Training Agency (TTA) introduced measures to make the teaching profession more accessible, attracting more ethnic minorities to the profession. However, the OECD report (2015) suggests that hiring teachers with an immigrant background (in the UK context encompassing religious and ethnic minorities) should not be the only strategy to ensure effective teaching for migrant children. Evidence also focuses on the role of teachers expectations on the attainment levels and on the aspiration levels of students from an ethnic minority backgrounds showing that a cycle of low expectations, low aspirations and low attainment has been generated for certain groups such as Black Caribbean pupils (Brind et all, 2008). This points to the importance of training and monitoring of all teachers.

Key points

- Schools have the autonomy to adjust their curricula to facilitate ethnic and religious children's integration in ways which might promote integration.
- Evidence provides examples of positive practices implemented by school curriculum or extra curriculum based interventions aiming at developing students' understanding of diversity and respect, examples include:
 - The Linking Network is a programme which helps children to develop positive skills and attitudes towards those from other ethnic, religious and social class groups. Twinning classrooms from different areas has been found to be a cost effective way to tackle school segregation.
 - The circle of friends is a peer support programme which has been described as successful in promoting pupils inclusion. However, we were not able to find evaluation of its impact on religious and ethnic integration.
 - The jigsaw is a classroom based learning technique which facilitates cooperative learning between pupils
- Across projects there is evidence that creating conditions for classroom discussion and reflexion on diversity enable pupils to engage with different perspectives.
- Across projects there are indications that preparation, training and support for teachers engaged in delivering initiatives is important to their success.
- There are a range of extra-curricular projects which show promise in promoting integration by race and ethnicity but few have been fully evaluated.
- Teachers play a crucial role in facilitating the integration process between pupils. It
 has been argued that the school workforce needs to be more diverse in terms of
 ethnic and religious background, but that this is only one of many strategies which
 should be used.
- Curricular materials and flexible learning formats are considered to facilitate and support integration by race and ethnicity, but we were not able to find systematic research in this area.

Chapter 5 Conclusions

The importance of ethnic and religious integration

The purpose of this literature review was to expand the Department's evidence base concerning how to improve relations between different ethnic and religious groups, in particular how to promote social mixing where it does not occur despite diversity. The issue is important because current levels of segregation have implications for equality as well as for social cohesion. The authors of the report 'Understanding School Segregation in England' found the period from 2011 to 2016 saw an increase in segregation by ethnicity (ICOCO, SchoolDash and The Challenge, 2017). This is troubling because, as the authors conclude, mixed school intakes not only influence pupils, but have a wider impact:

'Children form friendships, go to each other's home and attend out of school events together on an ongoing basis. Moreover, parents also meet at the school gate and through school-based activities and therefore are drawn into the friendship networks of the child'

It is hard not to agree that integration can have such benefits, and that mixing reduces levels of prejudice and prepares children and young people for life in diverse Britain. Desegregated schools may not ensure social integration of pupils from different religious and ethnic backgrounds, but do provide conditions under which it can be achieved. These include a range of interventions and initiatives including school mergers, linking and school-based projects. Our review has looked at the contributions of admissions policies, school and classroom-based initiatives in promoting religious and ethnic integration.

One general finding of the literature review is that it often works with a simple distinction between White British and ethnic minority pupils which does not consider the degree of divergence within the latter group. It also frequently works with an assumption that the chief beneficiaries of integration are ethnic minorities, rather than all pupils. International literature, particularly where ethnic minorities are categorised as migrants, is particularly problematic in this respect.

Admissions policies play a key role in increasing segregation, especially by religion

We reviewed evidence on the role of admissions policies in increasing or reducing segregation. They play an important role, particularly in view of the fact that levels of ethnic and religious segregation in schools do not simply reflect the composition of their local areas. They are higher than the areas in which they are located, reflecting schools' admissions policies as well as parental choice. Faith schools in themselves increase the

extent of segregation found in neighbouring schools, especially by social class but also by ethnicity. A number of studies, including by leading education experts, highlight the lack of transparency in schools' admissions practices. These have particular implications for social class segregation, but may also lead to under-representation of ethnic minorities in some schools. These findings strongly suggest the need for greater control and inspection of schools' admissions practices, as well as policies. In view of the impact of the policies of schools on others in their locality, this should not be considered an issue for individual schools.

A number of approaches to fairer admissions have been proposed, including ballots and banding. However, these have not been introduced with the explicit aim of promoting religious and ethnic integration, but to achieve a more comprehensive intake. Their success in achieving these more specific gaols is not known.

The limited value of international evidence to the UK context

Practices of other European countries and in countries such as the USA and Australia have limited value in the UK context since integration projects, and research, is conducted within a 'deficit' model where ethnic minorities (often referred to as migrants) are often seen to need contact with white children in order to raise their aspirations, rather than for the benefit of all pupils in a diverse society. However, international evidence does indicate that the educational attainment of migrant (including ethnic minority) pupils is better in comprehensive systems with late selection to different ability tracks and worse in systems of high selectivity. Systems which facilitate and encourage parental choice also increase segregation, including by ethnicity. International sources are also instructive about practices which do not work, and these include busing of pupils which was briefly practiced in parts of the UK.

Evidence that contact between pupils increases integration

A number of studies suggest that contact has positive results, in particular those which look at cross-ethnic friendships and at levels of trust and positive attitudes. This includes evidence from contact between White-British and Asian-British pupils at secondary schools in Oldham. Research in the context of Northern Ireland suggests that integrated education may reduce divisions, although pupils in such schools are, by definition, from families who are likely to be open to integration and its benefits. Recent research by Burgess and Platt on contact between pupils from different ethnic groups adds considerable weight to evidence that contact encourages positive inter-group attitudes and feelings. There is also a persuasive argument in literature on integration that contact in itself may not be enough and that we need a better understanding of which types of interaction between children and young people promote integration.

School-based interventions and initiatives

Duties on schools to promote religious and ethnic integration are not new. While concerns about segregation have become more prominent in recent years, the duty to promote community cohesion dates back to 2006 and has since been reinforced. However, the extent to which schools are meeting these duties and, more importantly, succeeding in more closely integrating pupils of diverse ethnicities and religions, is not known. There is a need for research to establish what schools are doing which meets, or goes beyond, these requirements. In the absence of this information, the available literature focuses largely on specific initiatives. We have looked at evidence relating to a number of interventions which would seem to have been successfully implemented and provide an indication of what works to improve integration. They include:

- The Linking Network: a programme which helps children develop positive skills and attitudes towards those from other ethnic, religious and social class groups.
- Twinning classrooms from different areas has been found to be a cost effective way to tackle school segregation.
- The jigsaw is a classroom based learning technique which facilitates cooperative learning between pupils.
- The circle of friends: a peer support programme which has been described as successful in promoting pupils inclusion. We were not able to find evaluation of its impact on religious and ethnic integration. However, evidence from other projects which include an element of classroom discussion also suggests this component can have a positive impact on pupil activity, for example seating behaviour.

Across projects there is evidence that creating conditions for classroom discussion and reflexion on diversity enable pupils to engage with different perspectives. There are also indications that preparation, training and support for teachers engaged in delivering initiatives is important to their success. Findings from a number of projects also suggest that the whole school ethos, learning and disciplinary environment help to encourage integration of ethnic minorities, but particularly those of a migrant background.

Curricular materials are also considered to assist greater mutual understanding between pupils from different backgrounds, although we were not able to find evidence of systematic research on this area. Research also refers to the importance of teachers' background, skills and training in promoting integration. Again, it is reasonable to assume that this is an important factor, but it has not been investigated in published research findings.

Our review included a number of extra-curricular projects intended to promote integration. These projects are considered to have been successful although there has been little independent evaluation of such initiatives. Examples in the report include arts projects, which would seem to offer potential for wider adoption, as well as evaluation to see which types of approach and activities work best.

Limitations in the evidence and gaps in the literature

Our review has identified a number of limitations in the literature for establishing how religious and ethnic integration can be promoted in educational settings. First, studies work with different understandings of segregation and integration. Much research on school segregation is primarily concerned with social class divisions and disadvantage, especially in relation to schools admissions policies. The impact on segregation by ethnicity is relatively un-explored and tends to be subsumed within debates on faith schools. The literature often works with a simple distinction between White British and ethnic minority pupils which does not consider the degree of divergence within the latter group. Schools' practices aimed at promoting integration often fail to distinguish between target groups, for example ethnic minorities, religious minorities or migrants and, new arrivals, yet these would seem to present different issues. This is particularly true of international literature which commonly fails to distinguish between recent migrants and ethnic minorities, treating both within a 'deficit' model whereby integration is seen to benefit minorities rather than majorities too.

We identified a range of approaches, initiatives and approaches which would seem to have potential to promote integration. These include admissions policies and practices as well as a range of projects at school, between school, classroom-based and extra-curricular levels. However, some reports provide limited evidence of outcomes, but also processes which lead a project or intervention to success. Establishing impact is often difficult, but future practice could be informed through understanding softer, as well as hard outcomes where these cannot be established. One area where evidence is particularly lacking is the impact on parents and families of schools' work on integration, yet such information could be very helpful in informing wider strategies.

There are important gaps in knowledge about integration at particular stages of the education system. We had intended to include Further and Higher Education, yet could find no published reports on interventions with these aims. It is likely that there are projects, interventions and initiatives at local level which have not been evaluated or reported. Therefore, future research should be carried out to establish the level of current activity and its outcomes.

It is even more likely that there are many such projects at primary and secondary school level. New research is needed to establish the extent to which schools are taking action to promote integration in a range of areas: from admissions, through to the curriculum, to extra-curricular activities, community engagement and links with other schools. At present, the evidence base is small and likely to substantially under-represent the work being carried out by schools. A full investigation of all integration activities can then identify gaps both in types of intervention but also where such activity takes place in terms of school type and locality.

The shortage of literature which describes interventions and their outcomes is not only a problem for researchers and policy makers. It represents a lost opportunity for schools and other education settings to develop their own practice through learning from the experience of other institutions and programmes. Reports on existing initiatives commonly include limited information about programme content, organisation and delivery. There is therefore a need for such information to be compiled, along with previously unpublished information, to assist schools and other education settings in their integration strategies and activities. This should indicate, where possible, contextual factors which might affect the feasibility or impact of programmes.

References

Ahad A., Benton M., (2018) Mainstreaming 2.0. <u>How Europe education system can boost migrant inclusion</u>, Integration Futures Working Group, Migration Policy Institute Europe.

Akthtar Y., Henry M., Longson S., (2017) <u>The Linking Network. The School Linking Programme in "If you could do one thing..."</u> Essay Collection British Academy 39-46

Allen, R., (2013), <u>Fair access: Making school choice and admissions work for all in Excellence and equity. Tackling educational disadvantage in England's secondary schools</u> Edited by Jonathan Clifton, Institute for Public Policy Research, June 2013

Allen, R., Parameshwaran, M., (2016) <u>Primary schools, catchment areas and social selection</u>, Research Brief Caught Out, the Sutton Trust Education Datalab April 2016

Allport, T.W. (1954). The nature of prejudice. Cambridge, MA: Perseus Books.

Arum, R. and M. Velez (eds.) (2012), Improving Learning Environments: School Discipline and Student Achievement in Comparative Perspective, Stanford University Press, Stanford, CA.

Bagci, S.B., Rutland, A., Kumashiro, M., Smith, K.P., Blumberg, H., (2014), <u>Are minority status children's cross-ethnic friendships beneficial in a multiethnic context?</u> The British Journal of Developmental Psychology, Volume 32, Issue 1, pp. 107–115.

Barlow FK., Paolini S., Pedersen A., Hornsey MJ, Radke HR., Harwood J., Rubin M., Sibley CG., (2012), <u>The contact caveat: negative contact predicts increased prejudice</u> more than positive contact predicts reduced prejudice, Personality and Social Psychology bulletin, 38(12):1629-43.

Bekerman, Z., (2004), <u>Potential and limitations of multicultural education in conflict-ridden areas: Bilingual Palestinian-Jewish schools in Israel</u>. Teachers College Record 106, no. 3: 574–610.

Ben-Nun M., (2013) <u>The 3Rs of integration: respect, recognition and reconciliation; concepts and practices of integrated schools in Israel and Northern Ireland</u>, Journal of Peace Education, 10:1, 1-20.

Berger Sacramento R., (2015) <u>Migrant education and Community Inclusion: Examples of Good Practices</u>, Policy Briefs, Migration Policy Institute, Issue 5 February 2015.

Billings, A. and Holden, A. (2007) <u>Interfaith interventions and cohesive communities: the effectiveness of interfaith activity in towns marked by enclavisation and parallel lives</u>, report prepared for the Home Office.

Blalock, H.M., (1967), Toward a Theory of Minority-group relations. New York: John Wiley

Bubritzki S, Van Tubergen, F, Weesie J. Smith S. (2018) <u>Ethnic composition of the school class and interethnic attitudes: a multi-group perspective</u>, Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 44:3, 482-502.

Brind, T., Harper C., Moore K., (2008) <u>Education for Migrant, Minority and Marginalised</u> <u>Children in Europe</u>, Open Society Institute's Education Support Programme.

Butler-Sloss (2015) <u>Living With Difference</u>, Report of the Commission on Religious and Belief in British Public Life Woolf Institute (2015).

Burgess, S., Wilson, D., Lupton, R., (2004) Parallel lives and Ethnic Segregation in the Playground and the Neighbourhood. CMPO Working Paper No 04/094 (Bristol: CMPO)

Burgess, S., Greaves, E., Vignoles, A., Wilson, D., (2014), What Parents Want: School Preference and School Choice, The Economic Journal, 125 (September), 1262–1289.

Burgess, S., and Platt, L. (2018) Inter-ethnic relations of teenagers in England's schools: the role of school and neighbourhood ethnic composition, Centre for Research and Analysis of Migration (CReAM) Discussion Paper Series, CPD 07/18

Cantle, T. (2001) <u>Community Cohesion: A report of the Independent Review Team chaired by Ted Cantle.</u>

The Casey Review: A review into opportunity and integration, London: DCLG.

The Challenge, iCoCo Foundation, SchoolDash (2017), <u>Understanding schools</u> segregation in England: 2011 to 2016.

Chiu, M.M. et al. (2016), <u>"Students' sense of belonging at school in 41 countries cross-cultural variability"</u>, Journal of CrossCultural Psychology, Vol. 47/2, pp. 175-196.

Clack B., Dixon J., Tredoux C., (2005), <u>Eating together apart: patters of segregation in a multi-ethnic cafeteria</u>, Journal of Community and applied Social Research Psycology, 15(1): 1-16.

Connolly P., (2000) What now for the contact hypothesis? Towards a new research agenda, Race thnicity and Education, Vol.3 Issues 2 pg 169-193.

Christopher K., Orchard J., Mckeown, Williams A., Wright, K., (2018), <u>RE and good community relations:</u> what can RE learn from social psychology? Teacher toolkit

Department for Education (2014), <u>Promoting fundamental British values as part of SMSC in schools</u>. Departmental advice for maintained schools.

Dixon, J.A., Durrheim, K., Tredoux, C. (2005). <u>Beyond the optimal strategy: A 'reality</u> check' for the contact hypothesis. American Psychologist, 60, 697–711.

Donnelly C (2008) <u>The integrated school in a conflict society: a comparative analysis of two integrated primary schools in Northern Ireland</u>, Cambridge Journal of Education, 38:2, 187-198.

Dwyer C., Parutis, V., (2012) <u>'Faith in the system?' State-funded faith schools in England and the contested parameters of community cohesion</u>, Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers, Volume 38, Issue 2, pages 267–284.

Engeström, Y., (2009), From learning environments and implementation to activity systems and expansive learning, Actio: An International Journal of Human Activity Theory, Vol. 2, pp. 17-33.

Faas, D. 2010. <u>Negotiating political identities: multiethnic schools and youth in Europe</u>. Farnham: Ashgate.

Fleischmann, Fenella, Karen Phalet, Patrick Deboosere, and Karel Neels. 2012. "Comparing Concepts of Ethnicity in Ethnic Composition Measures: Local Community Contexts and the Educational Attainment of the Second Generation in Belgium." Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 38 (10): 1513–1531.

Gibbons, S., Silva, O., (2011), <u>Faith Primary Schools: Better Schools or Better Pupils?</u>, Journal of Labor Economics, Vol. 29, No. 3 (July 2011), pp. 589-635.

Halpern, David. 1993. "Minorities and Mental Health." Social Science & Medicine 36 (5): 597–607.

Hayes B.C., McAllister I., Dowds L., (2013) <u>Integrated Schooling and Religious Tolerance</u> in Northern Ireland, Journal of Contemporary Religion, 28:1, 67-78.

Heckmann, F. (2008). <u>Education and Migration.Strategies for Integrating Migrant</u> Children in European Schools and Societies. A Synthesis of Research

Findings for Policy-Makers. European Commission, Brussels.

Hewstone M., Van Zalk M, Al Ramiah A, Schmid K, New R, Wölfer, R, Fell, B, Floe, C, Wigoder C, (2017), <u>Diversity and Social Cohesion in Mixed and Segregated Secondary Schools in Oldham</u>. Department for Education, Research Report.

HM Government (2018), <u>Integrated Communities Strategy Green Paper</u>. <u>Building stronger</u>, <u>more united communities</u>, March 2018.

Holme, J., Wells, A., and Revilla, A. (2005) Learning through experience: what graduates gained by attending desegregated high schools, Equity and Excellence in Education, 38 (1): 14-25.

Hughes, J., Campbell, A., Lolliot, S., Hewstone M., Gallagher T., (2013) <u>Inter-group contact at school and social attitudes: evidence from Northern Ireland</u>, Oxford Review of Education, 39:6, 761-779

Hussain, S., and Read, J.G. (2015) <u>'Islamic schools in the United States and England: Implications for integration and social cohesion'</u>. Social Compass 62 (4), 556-569.

<u>Intercultural Mentoring tools to support migrant integration at school</u> (INTO) COMENIUS Multilateral projects <u>Link</u>

Janmaat, JG., (2012), <u>The Effect of Classroom Diversity on Tolerance and Participation in England, Sweden and Germany</u>, Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 38 (1): 21–39.

Janmaat JG, (2014) <u>Do Ethnically Mixed Classrooms Promote Inclusive Attitudes</u>
<u>Towards Immigrants Everywhere? A Study Among Native Adolescents in 14 Countries</u>.
European Sociological Review 30(6):810-822.

Jerome, L., Elwick A., (2016), <u>Evaluation report on the ACT Building Resilience Project</u>, Association for Citizenship Teaching.

Karsten, S. Felix, C.; Ledoux, G.; Meijnen, W.; Roeleveld, J.; VanSchooten, E. (2006) Choosing Segregation or Integration? The Extent and Effects of Ethnic Segregation in Dutch Cities. Education and Urban Society, v38 n2 p228-247

Katsarova I., (2016), <u>Integration of migrants: The education dimension</u>, European Parliamentary |Research Service, June 2016.

Kerr D., Keating A., Poet H., Spielhofer T., Lopes J., Mundy E., (2011) Evaluation of the School Linking Network, DfE Research Report DFE-RR090

Laurence, J. & Bentley, L. (2017), <u>Countervailing contact: Community ethnic diversity, anti-immigrant attitudes and mediating pathways of positive and negative inter-ethnic contact in European societies</u>. Social Science Research, 68: 63-110.

Linking Network, National Foundation For Educational Research.

Levinson, M. (1999). <u>The demands of liberal education</u>. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

London Councils (2017), Promoting Successful Social Integration in London

McGlynn, C., (2003), Integrated Education in Northern Ireland in the context of Critical Multiculturalism. Irish Educational Studies, 22: 1-28.

McKeown, S., Williams, A. and Pauker, K. (2017), <u>'Stories that move them: Changing children's behaviour toward diverse peers'</u>, Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology, 27: 381–387

McKeown, S., Stringer, M., & Cairns, E. (2016). <u>Classroom segregation: where do students sit and what does it mean for intergroup relations?</u> British Educational Research Journal, 42, 40-55.

Manzoni, C. and Rolfe, H. (2019) <u>How schools are integrating migrant pupils and families</u>, NIESR report for the Paul Hamlyn Foundation

Miah, S., (2012) School desegregation and the politics of 'forced integration', Institute of Race Relations, Race & Class, October-December 2012, vol. 54, no. 2, 26-38

Musset, P. (2012), <u>School Choice and Equity: Current Policies in OECD Countries and a Literature Review</u>, OECD Education Working Papers, No. 66, OECD Publishing.

Newton C., Wilson D., (2003), <u>Creating Circles of Friends: a Peer Support and Inclusion</u> Workbook Nottingham: Inclusive Solutions

Noden, P., West, A., and Hind, A. (2014) <u>Banding and Ballots: Secondary school</u> admissions in England: Admissions in 2012/13 and the impact of growth of Academies,

London: Sutton Trust,

OECD (2003), <u>Student Engagement at School: A Sense of Belonging and Participation:</u> Results from PISA 2000, OECD Publishing, Paris,

OECD (2012), Education at a Glance 2012: Highlights, OECD Publishing, Paris.

OECD (2015), <u>Immigrant Students at School: Easing the Journey towards Integration</u>, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2018), <u>The Resilience of Students with an Immigrant Background: Factors that Shape Well-being</u>, OECD Reviews of Migrant Education, OECD Publishing, Paris

PeopleUnited (2017) Changing the World through Arts and Kindness Evidence from People United projects 2007-2017,

Pettigrew, T. F. (1997). <u>Generalized intergroup contact effects on prejudice</u>. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 23, 173–185.

Pettigrew, T.F. and Tropp, L.R. (2006). A meta-analytic test of inter-group contact theory, Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, Vol. 90, No. 5, 751–783.

Putnam, R. (2007) <u>E pluribus unum: diversity and community in the twenty-first century</u>, the 2006 Johan Skytte Prize Lecture, Scandinavian Political Studies, 30,(2):137-174.

Qin, D. B., Way, N., & Rana, M. (2008). The "model minority" and their discontent: Examining peer discrimination and harassment of Chinese American immigrant youth. In H. Yoshikawa & N. Way (Eds.) Beyond the family: Contexts of immigrant children's development. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development Issue 121.

Raw A., (2006), School Linking Project 2005-06: Full Final Evaluation Report

SchoolDash, (2016), Poverty of opportunity?, SchoolDash, August 2016

Taylor, M. (2015) <u>Kingdom United? Thirteen steps to tackle social segregation</u>. Social Integration Commission chaired by Matthew Taylor.

Thapa, A. et al. (2013), "A review of school climate research", Review of Educational Research, Vol. 83/3, pp. 357-385,

Tropp LR, Prenovost MA. The role of intergroup contact in predicting children's interethnic attitudes: Evidence from meta-analytic and field studies. In: Levy S, Killen M, editors. Intergroup Attitudes and Relations in Childhood Through Adulthood. Oxford University Press; New York, NY: 2008. pp. 236–248.

Van de Vyer J., Abrahams D., (2017) <u>Community Connectedness Through the Arts in "If you could do one thing…"</u> Essay Collection British Academy 39-46.

Vedder, P. 2006. <u>Black and white schools in the Netherlands</u>. European Education, 38 (2):36–49.

YouGov, 2013, Westminster Faith Debates survey, June 2013

West, A., Hind, A., (2016), Secondary school admissions in London 2001 to 2015: Compliance, complexity and control, Education Research Group, LSE, May 2016

Wolstenholme, C., Willis B., Culliney M., (2016), <u>Evaluation of the impact of Jigsaw the mindful approach to PSHE on primary schools</u>. Project Report. Sheffield, Sheffield Hallam University

Appendix: Literature search and analytical framework

This evidence review took a systematic approach. We started our search utilising a broad definition of 'integration practices' in promoting ethnic and religious mix in schools. The Department confirmed their interest in focus on schools, rather than on communities. And the primary focus of the review was ethnic and religious practices implemented by schools to promote integration. The key areas that guided the research included: evidence based theories addressing how to best promote integration/mixing in schools; admission policies and their implication on integration and particular practices on how to promote social mixing where it does not occur despite diversity.

The search was initially limited to material published from 2005 onward. However, to explore the relevance of particular theories or approaches some older papers were included. The search prioritised English language articles but was not limited to UK focused material. We included material from countries with comparable approaches to education and ethnic and religious diversity (Europe, Australia and USA). The search focused on a restricted number of relevant databases and included media articles and government documents. The databases used were: Google Scholar, JSTOR, Ingentaconnect and Researchgate. Other search locations included:

- European bodies such as OECD, EC, EPRS, and Cedefop
- Research organisations/think thanks such as Institute for Public Policy Research, National Foundation for Educational Research, Joseph Rowntree Foundation and Economic and Social Research Council
- Other organisations such as the Inter Faith Network, the Sutton Trust, School Linking Network

A primary set of search terms were used to identify relevant material: integration practices in schools, ethnic integration in schools, and religious integration in schools. Secondary terms used to refine the primary search were: faith schools, admission policies, multiculturalism and contact hypothesis. The search process produced a long list of material (approximately 9,000 documents).

Key details of all identified material were downloaded in an EndNote database library. A set of inclusion/exclusion criteria was developed and agreed with the Department. After a check for duplicates, the documents were shifted on the basis of title and abstracts. The inclusion/exclusion criteria comprised the publication date (material published before 2005 was removed) and relevance (material clearly irrelevant was removed). This process reduced considerably the material allowing the second stage of the analysis which involved the prioritisation only of the materials of greatest relevance. The final

selected papers were reviewed and assessed for methodological quality, geographical coverage and perspective.

The extracted evidence was synthetized in line with the focus of the review. During this process some papers were excluded because outside of the main focus and replaced by others using a citation search based on key materials used by authors of relevant papers.

The review finds that there is a diverse and multidisciplinary body of research literature (academic and grey) on the practices schools are implementing which promote, or limit, ethnic and religious integration in the UK. The literature provides information about the effect of admission policies in producing and reinforcing ethnic and religious segregation, the relevance of the contact hypothesis theory on the school composition and the ways in which schools seek to address and promote contact and social mixing where it does not occur despite diversity. Some evidence evaluates the impact and/or effectiveness of specific desegregation or school linking interventions.

© National Institiute of Economic and Social Research	
Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at: h.rolfe@niesr.ac.uk / c.manzoni@niesr.ac.uk or enquiries@niesr.ac.uk	
This document is available for download at <u>www.niesr.ac.uk</u>	
This document is available for download at <u>www.niesr.ac.uk</u>	
This document is available for download at <u>www.niesr.ac.uk</u>	
This document is available for download at www.niesr.ac.uk	
This document is available for download at www.niesr.ac.uk	